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SUMMARY

540 S. St. Andrews Place is a three-story multi-family residential building with a six-car garage at
the rear located on the east side of S. St. Andrews Place between W. 5th and 6th Streets in the
Wilshire Center neighborhood of Los Angeles. It was constructed in 1923 for owner Albert Balzer
in the Mediterranean Revival architectural style with Italian Renaissance Revival elements by the
Ley Bros. contractors as a 36-room apartment building.

The Wilshire Center neighborhood saw its most intense development from the late 1910s through
the 1920s, greatly encouraged by the growing streetcar system. Large single-family residences
lined the main thoroughfare, with both single-family and multi-family buildings appearing on and
near other major streets. The neighborhood also began to see large, luxurious apartment
buildings, multi-story edifices, and hotels, particularly along Wilshire Boulevard. The Los Angeles
Railway ran lines into and through the area along W. Sixth Street, Eighth Street, Ninth Street,
Third Street, Tenth Street (later Olympic Boulevard), Pico Boulevard, Larchmont Boulevard,
Vermont Avenue and Western Avenue.

Rectangular in plan with a central light well, the subject property is of wood-frame construction
with smooth stucco cladding. It has a hipped roof with composition shingles at the front with a flat
roof with a stepped parapet over the rear portion of the building. The roof over the front portion
has wide eaves with corbels. The primary, west-facing elevation is symmetrically composed and
is made up of five bays; the central bay has a fire escape within open porches with metal railings
on the first and second floors. Accessed via a series of stairs leading to a porch with a low
balustrade spanning the facade, the main entrance is recessed and obscured by a security gate
between two large pilasters. Other features on the primary elevation include curved Juliet
balconies, quoins, medallions between the arched openings on the second floor, and a string
course between the second and third floors. There are projecting balconies with metal railings on
the second and third floors within the third bay on the south- and north-facing elevations.
Fenestration consists of multi-lite wood casement windows, some with faux shutters and multi-lite
wood French doors.

Based on permit records, the subject property has experienced only minor alterations that
includes the addition of security bars to some of the windows in 1991 and the replacement of the
original red clay tile roof with composition shingles.

The subject property was identified as individually eligible for listing under the federal designation
program as representative of the themes of Period Revival Styles, 1910-1940 and Apartment
Streetcar Suburbs, 1906-1945 in the 2009 Historic Resources Survey of the Wilshire
Center/Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Project Area prepared for the Community
Redevelopment Agency by PCR Services Corporation in collaboration with Chattel Architecture
and LSA Associates, Inc.

CRITERIA

The criterion is the Cultural Heritage Ordinance which defines a historical or cultural monument
as any site (including significant trees or other plant life located thereon), building or structure of
particular historic or cultural significance to the City of Los Angeles if it meets at least one of the
following criteria:
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1. Is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies
significant contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation,
state, city or community;

2. lIs associated with the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, or local
history; or

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction;
or represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual
genius influenced his or her age.

FINDINGS
Based on the facts set forth in the summary and application, the Commission determines that the

application is complete and that the property may be significant enough to warrant further
investigation as a potential Historic-Cultural Monument.

BACKGROUND

On October 19, 2023, the Director of Planning determined that the application for the proposed
designation of the subject property as an Historic-Cultural Monument was complete.



CITY OF LOS ANGELES
Office of Historic Resources/Cultural Heritage Commission

HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT

NOMINATION FORM

1. PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

Proposed Monument Name: 540 S. St. Andrews PI.

Current address

Other Associated Names:

Street Address: 540 S. St. Andrews PI.

Council District: 13

Zir: 90020

Range of Addresses on Property: 538,540

Community Name: Wilshire

Assessor Parcel Number: 5503017016

Tract: WESTMINSTER PLACE

Block: BLK B Lot: 17

Identification cont’d:

Proposed Monument

Property Type: @) Building

Structure

Natural

Object Site/Open Space Feature

Describe any additional resources located on the property to be included in the nomination, here: detached garage

2. CONSTRUCTION HISTORY & CURRENT STATUS

Year built: 1923 @ Factual Estimated Threatened? None
Architect/Designer: | nknown Contractor: Ley Bros.
Original Use: residential Present Use: residential
Is the Proposed Monument on its Original Site? @ VYes No (explain in section 7) Unknown (explain in section 7)
3. STYLE & MATERIALS
Architectural Style: Mediterranean Revival Stories: 3 Plan Shape: Rectangular
FEATURE PRIMARY SECONDARY
CONSTRUCTION | Type: Wood Type:  select
CLADDING Material:  stucco, smooth Material:  Select
Type:  Hipped Type:  Flat
ROOF
Material: Ccomposition shingle Material:  Unknown
Type: Casement Type:
WINDOWS
Material:  Wood Material:  Select
ENTRY Style: Recessed Style:
DOOR Type:  select Type:  select




CITY OF LOS ANGELES
Office of Historic Resources/Cultural Heritage Commission

NOMINATION FORM

4. ALTERATION HISTORY

List date and write a brief description of any major alterations or additions. This section may also be completed on a separate document.
Include copies of permits in the nomination packet. Make sure to list any major alterations for which there are no permits, as well.

1974 comply with fire safety ordinance

1986 comply with dorothy mae ordinance

1988 re-roofing

1991 install security bars

1993 re-roofing

1995 repair earthquake damage footings and wall

5. EXISTING HISTORIC RESOURCE IDENTIFICATION (if known)
Listed in the National Register of Historic Places
Listed in the California Register of Historical Resources

Formally determined eligible for the National and/or California Registers

. . . . Contributing feature
Located in an Historic Preservation Overlay Zone (HPOZ)

Non-contributing feature

Survey Name(s):

Determined eligible for national, state, or local landmark Wilshire Center and Koreatown

status by an historic resources survey(s)

Other historical or cultural resource designations:

6. APPLICABLE HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT CRITERIA
The proposed monument exemplifies the following Cultural Heritage Ordinance Criteria (Section 22.171.7):

O 1. Isidentified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies significant contributions to the
broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation, state, city or community.

2. Is associated with the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, or local history.

0 3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction; or represents a notable
work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual genius influenced his or her age.



CITY OF LOS ANGELES
Office of Historic Resources/Cultural Heritage Commission

NOMINATION FORM

7. WRITTEN STATEMENTS

This section allows you to discuss at length the significance of the proposed monument and why it should be
designated an Historic-Cultural Monument. Type your response on separate documents and attach them to this

form.

A. Proposed Monument Description - Describe the proposed monument’s physical characteristics and
relationship to its surrounding environment. Expand on sections 2 and 3 with a more detailed descrip-
tion of the site. Expand on section 4 and discuss the construction/alteration history in detail if that is
necessary to explain the proposed monument’s current form. Identify and describe any character-
defining elements, structures, interior spaces, or landscape features.

B. Statement of Significance - Address the proposed monument’s historic, cultural, and/or architec-
tural significance by discussing how it satisfies the HCM criteria you selected in Section 6. You must
support your argument with substantial evidence and analysis. The Statement of Significance is your
main argument for designation so it is important to substantiate any claims you make with supporting

documentation and research.

8. CONTACT INFORMATION

Applicant

Name: James Dastoli Company:

Street Address: PO Box 1843 City: Los Angeles State: CA
Zip: 90028 Phone Number: Email: james.dastoli@gmail.com

Property Owner Is the owner in support of the nomination? Yes No Unknown
Name: HARIK JAY Company:

Street Address: 1524 IDLEWOOD RD City: Glendale State: CA
Zip: 91202 Phone Number: Email:

Nomination Preparer/Applicant’s Representative
Name: James Dastoli Company:
Street Address: PO Box 1843 City: Los Angeles State: CA

Zip: 90028 Phone Number: Email: james.dastoli@gmail.com






540 S. St. Andrews Place

Historic-Cultural Monument Nomination Continuation Sheet
A. Property Description

Site

Constructed in 1923, 540 S. St. Andrews Place is located on the east side of S. St. Andrews Place
between 5th Street and 6th Street, in the neighborhood of Wilshire Center. The building takes up most
of'it's rectangular parcel with some space reserved in the back for a parking lot, and a garage structure
that is rectangular in plan, with space for six vehicles. The building is fronted by a small lawn and
sidewalk on the west elevation. The building is separated from the apartment building at 526 S. St.
Andrews Place to the north by a small pathway. It is separated from the apartment building at 544 S. St.
Andrews Place to the south by a driveway. The back of the garages end at the property line of the
apartment building at 539 S. Manhattan Place to the east.

Exterior

Designed in the Mediterranean Revival style, the building is roughly rectangular in plan, and
technically forms an O-shape around a very small central courtyard. It rises to three stories in height.
The building is clad in stucco. The front walk rises a few steps to a small ballustraded porch with urns
at the corners on the primary west elevation. That elevation is five bays wide, and symmetrical, with a
partially covered fire escape set back into the central bay over the entrance. Stucco piers frame a
recessed entry that leads to an arched opening. The front door itself is not visible behind security bars.
Typical windows are paired wood casements. The second floor casements are arched with rounded
wrought iron Juliet balconies. Each side of the front elevation has a bas relief medallion between the
second and third floor. A course runs below the third floor windows. They are flanked by bas relief
panels that present themselves as shutters. The roof is hipped, and made of composite shingle.
Modillions support the eaves. Quoins run up the corners. The side elevations are mostly hidden from
the street, but bracketed balconies with wrought iron railings are visible.

Alterations

540 S. St. Andrews Place has had minimal alterations since its construction. The clay tile roof has been
replaced with composite shingle, but this does not detract from its appearance at street level.

B. Statement of Significance
Summary

540 S. St. Andrews Place meets the following criteria for designation as a Los Angeles Historic-
Cultural Monument:

1t is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies significant
contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation, state, city, or



community.

It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction; or
represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual genius
influenced his or her age.

Built in 1923, the property meets criterion 3 by being an excellent example of the Mediterranean
Revival style, with its overall massing, materials, roofline, and architectural details all being typical of
the style's characteristics. It meets criterion 1 because the building is representative of early patterns of
development in the Wilshire area that were influenced by streetcar suburbanization, being located
within 250 feet of the Los Angeles Railway line on 6th Street, in a multi-family neighborhood that
existed primarily due to streetcar connectivity.

In 2009, the Wilshire Center and Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Area: Historic Resources
Survey Report identified the building as individually eligible for the National Register under the
following criteria:

Context: Residential Development and Suburbanization, 1913-1945 Theme: Apartment Streetcar
Suburbs, 1906-1945

Context: Architecture, Engineering and Designed Landscapes, 1913-1945 Theme: The Architecture of
Fantasy--Period Revival Styles, 1910-1940

Streetcar Suburbanization’

Los Angeles came of age with the perfection of the streetcar and electric Interurban. The city’s
population grew from 11,183 at the beginning of the streetcar era to 576,673 in 1920. At the peak the
Los Angeles Railway alone operated some 83 route miles of line just inside the city limits. When
Henry E. Huntington established the Pacific Electric Railway Company in 1901, it was as much a real
estate concern as a transportation corporation. Within ten years, its fleet of hundreds of cars

and aggressive real estate activities helped propel the city’s expansion. The dovetailing of land
subdivision, sales, transportation infrastructure, and economic development made Huntington among
the wealthiest Los Angeles area residents. Rail lines were used to promote and sell tracts of land,
though the latter eventually wound up subsidizing the former. Huntington’s system also included the
preexisting Los Angeles Railway Company (the “Big Yellow Cars”), which were incorporated into the
vast interurban system of P.E.’s “Big Red Cars.” The first wave of suburbanization close to downtown
was over by the 1920s, and then with hundreds of millions of dollars to invest came a second wave of
fast interurban electric cars, often running in multiple car trains and making commute distances of ten,
twenty and thirty miles feasible. Ridership peaked in the mid-1920s, and the system began its slow,
inexorable decline in the 1930s.

1 Excerpted and adapted from PCR Services Corporation. “Wilshire Center and Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Area: Historic
Resources Survey Report,” prepared for CRA/LA, 2009.
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The R Line

The “R” Line served the subject property until 1931. It was formed by merging the Stephenson Avenue
Line and the West 6th Street Line, with service beginning in 1920 and ending in 1947. The route went
from Eastern Avenue and Whittier Boulevard, west on Whittier to Boyle Avenue, south on Boyle to E.
7th Street, west on 7th to Alvarado Street, north on Alvarado to W. 6th Street, west on 6th to right-of-
way near Gramercy Place, north on right-of-way to W. 3rd Street, west on 3rd to Larchmont Boulevard,
north on Larchmont to Melrose Avenue. In 1931, the line was rerouted to travel west on Whittier to
Boyle Avenue, south on Boyle to E. 7th Street, west on 7th to Vermont Avenue, north on Vermont to W.
3rd Street, west on 3rd to La Brea Avenue.?

Streetcar Suburbanization on St. Andrews Place

Railway lines are significant for their influence on the development and growth of early Los Angeles.
Wilshire area residents enjoyed considerable urban connectivity with railway lines along West Sixth
Street, West Eighth Street, Ninth Street, Western Avenue, and Vermont Avenue, which initiated the
construction of apartment buildings in the Wilshire area between 1906 and 1945.% As the population of
Los Angeles grew, and the reach of the Pacific Electric expanded, developers could begin to cash in on
land west of Western Avenue. In 1901, W.G. Nevin laid out Manhattan Place, Gramercy Place, Wilton
Place, and, St. Andrew’s Place.* The streetcar expansion facilitated the movement of more and more
people into the area and helped establish some of the first commuter suburbs in Los Angeles. Many
residents of the Wilshire district had the option of using either streetcars or automobiles for their daily
travel.” In the late 1920s, a swell of development erupted in “The Places,” as multistory apartment
buildings sprouted up. Stately tracts such as Westminster Square, Westminster Place, Western Wilshire
Heights and Country Club Park, originally laid out for single-family use, transformed into multi-family
districts. The proximity of “The Places” to the important intersection of Wilshire Boulevard and
Western Avenue — with its multiple streetcar line connections, the cachet of Wilshire being promoted
as the “Fifth Avenue of the West,” as well as the three blocks being a gateway to the leafy communities
to the west — made “The Places” an ideal location for growth.’

The subject property, 540 S. St. Andrews Place, was built in 1923, during this period of multi-family
development in the blocks northwest of Wilshire and Western. The building's location within 250 feet of
the Los Angeles Railway trackage on 6th Street surely attracted the developer to this parcel. Although
the building was built with a detached garage housing one car per family, the density and height of the
property clearly has more in common with the streetcar suburbs of Wilshire Center than the automobile
oriented suburbs in the western portion of the Wilshire area. SurveyLA pointed out the overlap of
streetcars and automobiles during this period, with residents having the choice of modes of
transportation. It is also of note that detached garages are widespread in the SurveyL A identified single
family streetcar suburbs farther north on St. Andrews Place.

2 "R’-Whittier Boulevard and W. 3rd Street Line (1920-1947)." The Electrical Railway Historical Association of Southern California,
http://erha.org/lary r.htm.

3 PCR Services Corporation. “Wilshire Center and Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Area: Historic Resources Survey Report,”
prepared for CRA/LA, 2009.

4 Curran, Brian. “The ‘Places’ — Wilton, Gramercy, St. Andrew’s and Manhattan.” Larchmont Chronicle, 30 March 2023.

5 City of Los Angeles. “Wilshire Community Plan Area: Historic Resources Survey Report,” ed. Department of City Planning, Office
of Historic Resources, SurveyL A, 2015.

6 Curran, Brian. “‘Chateaux in the sky’ part 2: Gramercy, St. Andrews and Manhattan.” Larchmont Chronicle, 29 June 2023.
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540 S. St. Andrews Place

Permits were issued to owner Albert Balzer for the construction of a six family apartment building on
August 17, 1923. It is unknown whether or not this is the same Albert Balzer who owned Balzer Market
on Larchmont Boulevard nearby.” Ley Bros. are listed on the permit as contractors, with no architect
listed. A separate permit was issued on February 13, 1924 for the construction of a six car garage on the
property. Albert Balzer's name also appears on the permits for 620 S. Manhattan Place, which was also
built by Ley Bros. (now demolished). A classified ad in the Los Angeles Times from 1924 describes the
building as, “exclusive,” and points out the tile baths and new furniture.® Another ad from 1928
mentions oriental rugs, a Steinway piano, radio, and Victrola.’

Ley Bros.

Ley Bros. were building contractors who were very active in the Wilshire area in the 1920's. They
maintained an architectural department and had offices located at 311 S. Vermont Ave. A Los Angeles
Times ad from May 4, 1924 says that they already had 13 years of experience. That year, they ran a
number of ads in the newspaper that showed images of their designs. They mention the business being
associated with the names L.A. Pitzer, M.E. Taylor, and A.G. Diess. Among the buildings shown in the
photo ads are apartments at 3192 W. 7th Street, 1415 S. St. Andrews Place, 234 S. Kenmore Avenue,
and 846 S. Catalina Street. These buildings still exist today, but the first two have seen their integrity
severely degraded through window replacements.

Aside from residential buildings, Ley Bros. also featured sketches of commercial buildings in their
advertisements. One ad shows a sketch of 1689 Beverly Boulevard, suggesting that the same design
was also being built at 6th and La Brea. The building on Beverly has been severely altered, but clearly
matched the sketch at one time, but the building on La Brea only bears a passing resemblance. The
Beverly design was once identical to the since-altered 3801 W. 3rd Street, which does not have Ley
Bros. listed on their permits, so it is unclear whether this particular corner commercial block design
originated with Ley Bros.

While most of the designs pictured are of the Mediterranean Revival style, they also used the Spanish
Colonial Revival style for apartment buildings at 518 N. Genesee Avenue in the Beverly Fairfax
Historic District, and 734 S. Detroit Street in the Miracle Mile HPOZ, both of which have had their
integrity degraded through window replacements.

Ley Bros. was listed on permits for at least three Mediterranean Revival style buildings on St. Andrews
Place north of Wilshire Blvd: 105 S. St. Andrews Place, 540 S. St. Andrews Place, and 545 S. St.
Andrews Place. 105 was demolished in 2023, and 545 has seen its integrity severely degraded with
window replacements, leaving only 540 with high integrity. An ad from May 17, 1925 shows a sketch
of the building at 545 S. St Andrews during construction, but the design does not match the final
building.

7 “Vintage Photo: Balzer Market (1930).” Larchmont Buzz, 28 September 2013.

8 Advertisement for 540 S. St. Andrews Pl. Los Angeles Times, 21 August 1924.

9 Advertisement for 540 S. St. Andrews Pl. Los Angeles Times, 26 March 1928.

10 Excerpted and adapted from City of Los Angeles. "Los Angeles Citywide Historic Context Statement Context: Architecture and
Engineering, 1850-1980 Theme: Mediterranean & Indigenous Revival Architecture, 1893-1948,” ed. Department of City Planning,
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Mediterranean Revival!?

The origin of the Mediterranean Revival style is Italy, and while it shares many features with the Spanish
Colonial, there are identifiable differences. The composition of the Mediterranean Revival is less
picturesque, with uniformly horizontal roof lines and little emphasis on separate massing. Along with this
comes increasing formality, approaching axial symmetry in many cases. Perhaps the most apparent
difference is the roof. Both employ low pitches and clay tiles, but that of the Mediterranean Revival is
typically hipped, while that of the Spanish Colonial Revival is gabled. Also different is the approach to
landscaping, reflecting the difference between Spanish and Italian traditions. The Spanish Colonial
Revival often turns inward, with the characteristic outdoor space being an enclosed courtyard or patio.
The Mediterranean Revival, in contrast, makes use when possible of the formal garden that extends
outward from the building.

Most resources mixed elements, as was admitted by architect Rexford Newcomb in his 1928 book
Mediterranean Domestic Architecture in the United States. He noted that “Called upon to do ‘Spanish’
work, many of our men versed in the Italian, unconsciously allowed the Italian to modify their less well
understood Spanish forms so that something that was neither Spanish nor Italian resulted.” Nonetheless
an examination of predominantly Mediterranean Revival resources illustrates an overall difference that is
primarily a feeling of quiet formality in contrast to picturesque exuberance.

An example of a Mediterranean Revival multi-family resource is the Zobelein Estate, a set of apartment
buildings from 1937 (L.A. Historic-Cultural Monument No. 583). Located at 3738-3770 South Flower
Street in South Los Angeles, they were designed by W. L. Schmolle. Construction is stucco on wood
frame reinforced with structural steel. The Zobelein Estate is a Mediterranean Revival variation of the
Spanish Colonial Revival courtyard apartment building. The formality of the Mediterranean Revival is
evident in its bilateral symmetry along the axis of its open central court, along with the low-pitched
hipped roof with its continuous eave line. But it has Spanish Colonial Revival features, such as the arched
corbels that support the projecting second floor and the parapets at the bay windows facing the courtyard
that extend above the eave line.

A small institutional building in the Mediterranean Revival style is the Wilmington Branch Library of
1927 (L.A. Historic-Cultural Monument No. 308). Located at 309 West Opp Street, it was designed by
Sylvanus Marston, Garret Van Pelt, and Edgar Maybury. Construction is of reinforced concrete. Although
described by some sources as Spanish Colonial Revival, the Wilmington Branch Library is an example of
the Mediterranean Revival, as can be seen in comparison with the John C. Fremont Branch Library. The
Wilmington branch is more formal, with nearly symmetrical wings flanking a projecting central entrance
bay. The low-pitched hipped roof maintains the horizontal eave line, with the height difference between
entrance bay and the side wings reinforcing its formal composition. Its Mediterranean Revival sobriety is
broken only by the Churrigueresque detailing around the entrance.

Character-defining features of the style include:

- Stucco exterior walls (rarely, brick or cast stone)

- Low-pitched clay tile roof typically hipped

- Relatively simple massing, with stress on the horizontal

- Relatively formal composition, approaching symmetry in parts or in whole
- Arched openings, including arched focal windows

Office of Historic Resources, SurveyLA, 2018.



- Clay tile roof or roof trim
- Limited use of applied decoration
- Landscaping of formal gardens extending away from building

540 S. St. Andrews Place can be identified as an excellent example of the Mediterranean Revival style
by looking at its formal composition and simple massing. Key features are the low pitched roof and
stucco walls. The arched openings, horizontal roofline, and limited use of applied decoration are also
significant.

Early History of the Wilshire Area'

The Tongva people are the original inhabitants of the land that later included most of Los Angeles,
including the central Los Angeles area later known as Mid-City/Mid-Wilshire. They resided in villages
connected by foot trails, part of a larger network that also led to known resources like the La Brea tar
pits. The mission system established under Spanish rule slowly disintegrated after Mexico obtained its
independence in 1821, and former mission lands were granted to individuals in favor as ranchos.
Rancho La Brea was granted in 1828 by Los Angeles mayor José Antonio Carrillo to Antonio José
Rocha and named for the well-known tar pits within. The La Brea Road/El Camino Viejo served as the
dividing line between Rancho La Brea on the north and Francisco Avila’s Rancho Las Cienegas on the
south. It later became Wilshire Boulevard, the backbone of the area and one of the most iconic and
influential commercial corridors in the nation.

Deeply in debt after years of court battles to prove their claim to Rancho La Brea upon California’s
cession to the United States, Rocha’s heirs deeded the land in its entirety to Los Angeles attorney and
surveyor Henry Hancock in 1860. Hancock made the first efforts to develop the area commercially,
primarily focusing on its fossil fuel resources and subdividing and selling off some portions of the
rancho. The bulk of it remained in the family, passing to Hancock’s wife Ida Hancock after his 1883
death and then to his son G. Allan Hancock. Rancho La Brea remained mostly rural and unoccupied
until the city’s first population and land boom in the late 1880s. The expansion of rail networks and a
fare war between the Southern Pacific and Santa Fe Railroads led to rampant land speculation as
developers began realizing the potential of areas outside of Los Angeles’ original core.

Wilshire Center Development'?

Henry Gaylord Wilshire, an entrepreneur, socialist, real estate speculator, and all around gadfly from
Cincinnati, Ohio, arrived in Los Angeles in 1886. Promising cheap land and endless sunshine, boosters
lured easterners like Wilshire to purchase vast tracts of unsettled farmland and oil fields west of
downtown. To garner attention and fanfare for a new subdivision, Wilshire created a 120-foot wide
graveled road stretching four blocks between his parcel, Sunset Park (Lafayette Park) and Westlake
Park (MacArthur Park). The wide road, bordered with concrete sidewalks, created an appealing
streetscape, and Wilshire’s fledgling tract was successful as one of the city’s first elite enclaves. The
construction of the Hotel Hershey Arms interrupted the original intent of the Wilshire Boulevard Tract
as a single-family residential area. The rambling hostelry was the first indication of the Wilshire

11 Excerpted and adapted from Architectural Resources Group. "Miracle Mile Apartments Historic District,” 2022.
12 Excerpted and adapted from PCR Services Corporation. “Wilshire Center and Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Area: Historic
Resources Survey Report,” prepared for CRA/LA, 2009.



Boulevard’s future as the address for some of the city’s most sumptuous apartment-hotels erected
between the World Wars. In fact, beginning as early as the late 1910s, the tract’s success attracted
speculators who eventually purchased many of the tract’s original single-family residences. In most
cases, grand multi-level apartment houses replaced the original residences. Wilshire Boulevard
addresses were prominent in society columns of the period.

The Southern California population boom of the 1920s ushered in a new era for Wilshire Boulevard,
particularly between Hoover Street and Western Avenue. The area’s dramatic evolution during this
period was the result of many factors, including the relaxation of single-family residential building
restrictions, commercial expansion, the establishment of numerous houses of worship along Wilshire
Boulevard, and the impact of the automobile on urban form. As the city continued expanding to the
west, Wilshire Boulevard was the beneficiary of over a decade of explosive growth. During the 1920s,
commercial real estate values in the survey area soared and Wilshire Boulevard gained its moniker,
“Fifth Avenue of the West.” An array of newly built commercial buildings and their associated neon
signs began to visually define the survey area from its surroundings. In 1921, the Ambassador Hotel
was opened on an enormous 23-acre parcel of land between Wilshire Boulevard and 8th Street.
Designed by renowned local architect Myron Hunt and immediately hailed as one of the west’s
grandest resorts, the recently demolished Ambassador became the site of some of the region’s most
momentous events. Tourists and locals alike flocked to experience the high-end area’s numerous multi-
story apartment buildings and emerging shopping district that emulated the glamour of New York’s
Fifth Avenue high rises—specifically, the Asbury, the Langham (1928), the Talmadge (1922), and the
Windsor (1927). Urban beautification efforts during this period included a 1927 plan by the Wilshire
District Chamber of Commerce, which sought to distinguish Wilshire Boulevard as “one of the most
unique commercial thoroughfares in the world.” The ambitious landscape design consisted of a
combination of trees, ornamental gratings and guards, and decorative sidewalk tiles.

While the commercial decentralization out of downtown Los Angeles began in the early 1920s, it
wasn’t until the late 1920s and 1930s that commercial centers west of downtown, like Wilshire
Boulevard, became true retail destinations. With the increased use of the automobile and a growing
residential population near Wilshire, developers touted Wilshire Boulevard’s diverse selection of
department stores and wide, auto-oriented streetscape. By the 1920s, architecture in Los Angeles at
every scale — from the grandiose to the mundane — drew from European precedents and only eventually
acquired unique nuances based on myriad influences. Hollywood’s most famous export created a
permissive, open-minded, and pioneering atmosphere in the built environment of the city at-large. In
addition to Spanish and Mediterranean Revival styles, the French Renaissance, Tudor, and
Chateauesque styles became an additional source of aesthetic inspiration in production design and
architecture. Furthermore, the names given to apartment buildings, such as the St. Germaine and
Chalfonte, evoked legitimacy, along with allusions to European aristocracy and quaint village life. The
illuminated neon signs that became signature features of buildings in the survey area helped make such
monikers more visible, and thus furthered the cultural and social aspirations of their inhabitants.

Period of Significance

The period of significance for 540 S. St. Andrews Place is defined as 1923 for its significance as a
notable example of the Mediterranean Revival style. The period of significance an an example of
streetcar suburbanization stretches from 1923-1931.



Integrity
540 S. St. Andrews Place retains a high degree of integrity, and is mostly unaltered.
Location: The subject property is in its original location and therefore retains this aspect of integrity.

Design: The subject property retains most of its character-defining features from its period of
construction, including its formal composition, simple massing, low pitched roof, stucco walls, and
arched openings, and therefore is able to convey its historic significance as a Mediterranean Revival
residential building. The building's overall massing, configuration, and character-defining decorative
elements remain. Although the clay roof tiles have been replaced with composite shingle, the shape of
the roof has not changed, and the shingle is a color similar to clay. Therefore, the building retains
integrity of design.

Setting: The property is located in Wilshire Center, and is surrounded by other multi-family residential
buildings. While more recent development has occurred on the block, the prominence of the building in
its original location remains. The building retains integrity of setting.

Materials: Minor alterations have minimally affected the building's integrity of materials. The property
retains the majority of its materials from its initial construction, therefore this element of integrity
remains intact.

Workmanship: The building's original workmanship is still evident through its overall construction
methods and materials. The building retains this element of integrity.

Feeling: The original character-defining features still remain, presenting the same basic appearance
from the street as when it was built. No major alterations have occurred. The building retains integrity
of feeling.

Association: The property has been continuously used as multi-family residence since its construction
in 1923. It is just as recognizable today as a 1920's Mediterranean Revival residential building that is
directly linked with this period of development in Wilshire Center. Therefore, it retains integrity of
association.



Bibliography

Advertisement for 540 S. St. Andrews Pl. Los Angeles Times, 21 August 1924.

Advertisement for 540 S. St. Andrews Pl. Los Angeles Times, 26 March 1928.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 30 March 1924.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 13 April 1924.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 4 May 1924.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 22 June 1924.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 27 July 1924.

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 14 September 1924,

Advertisement for Ley Bros. Los Angeles Times, 17 May 1925.

Architectural Resources Group. "Miracle Mile Apartments Historic District,” 2022.

City of Los Angeles. "Los Angeles Citywide Historic Context Statement Context: Architecture and
Engineering, 1850-1980 Theme: Mediterranean & Indigenous Revival Architecture, 1893-1948,”
ed. Department of City Planning, Office of Historic Resources, SurveyLA, 2018.

City of Los Angeles. "Los Angeles Citywide Historic Context Statement Context: Residential
Development and Suburbanization, 1880-1980 Theme: Multi-Family Residential Development,
1895-1970,” ed. Department of City Planning, Office of Historic Resources, SurveyLA, 2018.

City of Los Angeles. “Wilshire Community Plan Area: Historic Resources Survey Report,” ed.
Department of City Planning, Office of Historic Resources, SurveyL A, 2015.

Curran, Brian. “‘Chateaux in the sky’ part 2: Gramercy, St. Andrews and Manhattan.” Larchmont



10

Chronicle, 29 June 2023.

Curran, Brian. “The ‘Places’ — Wilton, Gramercy, St. Andrew’s and Manhattan.” Larchmont
Chronicle, 30 March 2023.

PCR Services Corporation. “Wilshire Center and Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Area:
Historic Resources Survey Report,” prepared for CRA/LA, 2009.

"‘R’-Whittier Boulevard and W. 3rd Street Line (1920-1947)." The Electrical Railway Historical
Association of Southern California, http://erha.org/lary r.htm.

“Vintage Photo: Balzer Market (1930).” Larchmont Buzz, 28 September 2013.



State of California - The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #

PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial

NRHP Status Code _3S

Other Listings

Review Code Reviewer Date
Page 1 of 3 *Resource Name or #: (Assigned by recorder) 540 S ST ANDREWS PL
P1. Other Identifier:
*P2. Location: ___ Not for Publication X Unrestricted *a. County _Los Angeles County
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)

*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: _ Hollywood Date: 1996
c. Address: 540 S ST ANDREWS PL City: LOS ANGELES Zip: 90020
d. UTM: (Give more than one for large and/or linear resources) Zone: mE/ mN

e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate) Elevation:
APN:5503017016

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)

A) Property Type: residential B) Setting (general): residential area C) General characteristics. Architectural Style: Mediterranean
Revival, elements of Plan: rectangular No. Stories: 3 Siding/Sheathing: stucco: smooth, W Roof: hipped, wide eaves Construction:
unknown D) Specific features. Fenestration: wood, casement, front Primary Entrance: front, recessed E) Important decorative
elements. Decorative Elements: pilasters, brackets G) Alterations or changes to the property. Retains integrity: high H) Setting
(immediate): mature landscaping

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) HPO3
*P4. Resources Present: Building  Structure Object Site District Element of District Other (Isolates, etc.)
P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) P5b. Description of photo:
(View, data, accession #)
11/11/08

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: X Historic

___ Prenhistoric ____Both
1924
Assessor

*P7. Owner and Address:
HARIK,JAY

2306 TEVIOT ST
LOS ANGELES, CA 90039

*P8. Recorded by:
Jon Wilson
PCR Services Corporation
233 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 130
Santa Monica, CA 90401

*P9. Date Recorded: 12/12/2008
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Intensive

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources or enter "none.")
PCR Services Corporation Historic Resources Survey of the Wilshire Center/Koreatown Recovery Redevelopment Project Area.
Prepared for the Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Los Angeles in collaboration with Chattel Architecture (lead) and
LSA Associates, Inc., March 2009.

*Attachments: None Location Map X Sketch Map X Continuation Sheet X Building, Structure, and Object Record

__Archeological Record ~ District Record _ Linear Feature Record  Milling Station Record
__Rock ArtRecord  Artifact Record  Photograph Record  Other (List):
DPR 523A (1/95) *Required Information




State of California - The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #
BUILDING, STRUCTURE, AND OBJECT RECORD

Page 2 of 3 *NRHP Status Code_3S

*Resource Name or #: (Assigned by recorder) 540 S ST ANDREWS PL

B1. Historic Name:
B2. Common Name: 540 S ST ANDREWS PL
B3. Original Use: Apartment B4. Present Use: Apartment

*B5. Architectural Style: Mediterranean Revival

*B6. Construction History: (Construction date, alterations, and data of alterations)
Year constructed: 1924; Owner: Albert Balzer; Valuation: $38,000

*B7. Moved? X No _ Yes _ Unknown Date: Original Location:
*B8. Related Features:

None

B9a. Architect: Unknown b. Builder: Ley Bros

*B10. Significance: Area: Los Angeles Theme:

Context: Residential Development and Suburbanization, 1913-1945 Theme: Apartment Streetcar Suburbs, 1906-1945; Context:
Architecture, Engineering and Designed Landscapes, 1913-1945 Theme: The Architecture of Fantasy--Period Revival Styles, 1910-1940

Period of Significance: 1924 Property Type: Multi-family Resident Applicable Criteria: A/1, C/3
(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope. Also address integrity.)
Theme: The Architecture of Fantasy — Period Revival Styles, 1910-1940

By the 1920s, architecture in Los Angeles at every scale — from the grandiose to the mundane — drew from European precedents.
Hollywood’s most famous export created a permissive, open-minded and pioneering atmosphere in the city at-large with regards to
the built environment. In addition to Spanish and Mediterranean Revival styles, the French Renaissance, English Tudor and
Renaissance Revival styles became an additional source of aesthetic inspiration in production design and architecture.

Furthermore, names that were given to apartment buildings, such as the St. Germaine and Chalfonte, evoked legitimacy, along...
B11. Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes)  HPO03

*B12. References:

— T |
=
2 [
U E
[ Z
£
B13. Remarks: - W5TH ST © TWETH ST
. : . | ) : E
-] . 2 |
*B14. Evaluator: Jon Wilson T s s ! !
] Q —_—
*Date of Evaluation: 12/12/2008 — E "é ll 540 S ST ANDREWS IF'I;
= <
— @ = Bl
—] @ 5 —
(This space reserved for official comments.) — |-| Wi
/“""'__J w
W ETH 5T W 6TH ST
/--'__\ ] —
.
] & |
| >
- w
- I r—

DPR 523B (1/95) *Required Information



State of California - The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #
CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial
Page3 of 3_ Resource Name or #:(Assigned by recorder)
*Recorded By: Jon Wilson *Date: 12/12/2008 X Continuation ~_ Update

B10. Statement of Significance (continued): with allusions to European aristocracy and quaint village life. The illuminated neon
signs that became signature features of buildings in the Wilshire Corridor area helped make such monikers more visible, and
thus further these cultural and social aspirations. The best examples of this style are located in the Pellissier Square Tract area,
and can be seen in a variety of forms and types.

While architects and designers in Los Angeles during the first decades of the twentieth century borrowed heavily from
established European traditions, non-European and “exotic” places also captured the public imagination. An architecture of
fantasy then emerged from eclectic sources, and Los Angeles proved to be fertile ground for testing these experiments.

Despite the widespread popularity of period revival and exotic styles, detractors dismissed the entire city as a back lot
simulacrum. Modernist architect Richard Neutra “blamed” the motion picture industry for the proliferation of period revival
architecture. Carey McWilliams offered a more generous explanation: “Lacking socially prominent first families or deeply
rooted social traditions, Los Angeles quickly adopted the motion-picture elite as its arbiters of taste and style. Although the
movie elite moved in a world of their own, this world was all the more conspicuous for having the spotlight riveted on its
isolated, stage-like gyrations. Hence the movies came to set the tone of opinion in style and taste, manner of living, and attitudes.
In other words, Los Angeles imitated Hollywood.”

Theme: Apartment Streetcar Suburbs, 1906-1945

When Henry E. Huntington established the Pacific Electric Railway Company in1901, it was as much a real estate concern as a
transportation corporation. Within ten years, its fleet of hundreds of cars and aggressive real estate activities helped propel the
city’s expansion. The dovetailing of land subdivision, sales, transportation infrastructure, and economic development made
Huntington among the wealthiest Los Angeles area residents. Rail lines were used to promote and sell tracts of land, though the
latter eventually wound up subsidizing the former. Huntington’s system also included the preexisting Los Angeles Railway
Company (the “Big Yellow Cars”), which were incorporated into the vast interurban system of P.E.’s “Big Red Cars.” The P.E.
merged with the Southern Pacific Railroad upon Huntington’s sale of his company and retirement. Ridership peaked in the
mid-1920s, and the system began its slow, inexorable decline in the 1930s. Railway lines along West Sixth Street, West Eighth
Street, Ninth Street, Western Avenue, and Vermont Avenue serviced the survey area.

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information






























Mo,o 0/‘
- WZSﬁwmwvzﬁDFZACE

//7 1he C/z‘g of Los Ange/gs cmdf/w Caamy
| of Los Angeles, STaTE or” CO///”&/? )/
ST Being o subo’sion OF 1he SEH 0F 1he SE
o ’%%MBWSPMWGBM-_A,A :
o Surveyed inJonvory /996 . y
| by ' froworn S z//”mfy&/’ /rve Covrses | :
S oy Scole /00reet fo one nch.

. {
. x X A"(
" e *
. A5 5
LR . i
\" H
. k ) y ) 100\ ) 08 \ 05" \_ L I L___
S : 6. S s /T H ‘ : . S7. 8 R
g FI LN E, . N 5. 89°56% £ L. SV L : 5. 8956 E .2 o
O L 25037 ?f*'"”""“"!”i TTSASE | /3505R T «< o /asorm:gu:"/os LU Ry EP T T R /as.n:vm/}k.? 5 (-
. | 107 NNTASE- Y "”i’ 9 10 79 N 10 g
ﬁ""‘*:k \ P e G WY S0 2 P Y - R wso 3w |¥ 150 150 %, .k
i~ 1 - Fi R . X o ) T < . . M
e\ & )® Q 2 3 S 174 9 NE N ]2 : 9 N N 12 : 9 3 f]"
X = ‘ Y " U R o
Y ,V]/‘P S ot . '\] N 13 R e : U : 13 8 “J il 13 s g . z Hi)l
! |- .
;i di  ss995 Q . Q/ :
6 N , < — A. ~ ,
: ' N 'S ‘“?_s; 78 Nls 4 § - 3 48 7 3,5.‘% 4S| 3§f
N7, XY 0\\l 5.89°|s6 % E. -Q <  sslsene, ?0\ 5.89°\58% {3
fe, 5.89<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>